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THE EXPLOITATION AND REUSE OF THE ROMAN RUINS FROM
TIBISCUM, STARTING FROM THE MEDIEVAL TO THE MODERN AGE

ABSTRACT

This article wishes to discuss the reuse of monuments, construction materials and of other objects
from the Roman period discovered at Tibiscum, starting with the Medieval Age and until the Modern
Age. The locations with such discoveries are located near the Roman site, at Jupa, Cavaran- Ct. Da-
icoviciu, Caransebes, Turnu Ruieni and possibly at Carbunari- Tiganesti and Obreja. In general, the
materials that were reused included construction materials, stone, brick and especially fragmentary
or complete monuments, small, precious objects such as ancient gems were also reused, being mount-
ed in medieval rings. The vast majority of such spoils was reused in building or rebuilding medieval
churches, the medieval keep from Turnu Ruieni or the medieval fortress at Caransebes. The spoliation
of Tibiscum begins for certain from the 14th century and continues in the next one, based on the policy
of the Hungarian royalty of building new places of worship and repairing the royal fortresses given the
danger represented by the Turkish expansion.

In the Modern Age, the Roman monuments have been used to embellish the houses of the inhabi-
tants from Caransebes or the manor from Jupa, belonging to the Capra family of nobles. Fortunately,
located nowadays in the archaeological reservation from Jupa, Tibiscum is most carefully unearthed
and researched. Still, many of the objects unearthed at Tibiscum in the period before the reservation
was created remain lost to this day, while many of the monuments plundered from the Roman centre and
encased in the walls of modern buildings, no longer exist.

KEYWORDS:DACIA, TIBISCUM,ROMAN SPOLIA,MEDIEVALAGE,MODERNAGE,MONUMENTS,
JEWELLERY.

In loving memory of professor Doina Benea

The Roman centre from Tibiscum represents
an important point on the map of Roman Dacia,
being comprised of the Roman fort and city, both
located at the junction of the imperial roads com-
ing from Dierna and Lederata, passed through
Tibiscum and led towards the north of the prov-
ince. The Roman ruins are currently located on
the territory of Jupa village — where the Tibiscum
archaeological reservation protects them — as well
as on the territory of laz, both villages are located

near the city of Caransebes.

Our article discusses the plundering of the ruins
of Roman Tibiscum and their reuse in the building
of several medieval or modern monuments located
in its close proximity, especially the building of
medieval Caransebes, as well as the reuse of the
objects discovered in the Roman centre, during the
Medieval and Modern ages. With regards to the
plundering and the reuse of the ruins of Tibiscum,
we mention that this topic has been only partially
discussed until now, in studies regarding Roman
monuments (Cringus 2001: 91-95; Balaci Cringus
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2013: 367-371), ancient gems and cameos discov-
ered in medieval contexts (Hamat: 2016, 69-76;
Hamat: 2017, 417- 437), medieval monuments
(Bona: 1993; Sacara: 2002, 189-192) and even in
the context of studies dedicated to archaeologic
historiography (Hamat: 2017a, 2015- 2018). Un-
fortunately, the presence of information in differ-
ent fields has prevented the creation of a complete
picture for the level of plundering endured by the
Roman city. In general, when discussing the Ro-
manian historiography, both sides involved, the
ancient and the medieval one, have tried to eval-
uate this type of intervention, especially for what
is entitled by the reuse of Roman monuments and
building materials or even for the irreversible de-
struction of the ancient monuments — detected by
analysing the medieval mortar, or in the archae-
ological marks of the medieval or modern lime
whorkshops situated in the ancient sites (Rusu
2008: 24- 37). The chemical analyses have high-
lighted the fact that the medieval mortar contained
crushed Roman age tegular materials. Currently,
we have bibliographic references for the reuse of
ancient monuments from Dacia by overlapping
or by looting theirs remains from Romula/ Mal-
va- Resca (Tatulea: 1994, 9), the termal edifice of
Legio VII Cl. from Cioroul Nou (Bondoc: 2015,
29, 33, 45, 59, 75), roman fort from Slaveni (Tu-
dor, Popilian, Gudea, and Bondoc 2011: 16-17, 26,
29), Drobeta- Drobeta Turnu Severin (Matei 2016:
348), Ad Mediam- Baile Herculane (Steube 2003:
40-44), Berzobis- Berzovia (Teicu 1996: 38; Me-
delet and Flutur 2002; Hamat 2018: 26), Ulpia
Traiana Sarmizegetusa- Sarmizegetusa (Marinoiu
2000; Rusu 2008: 24- 37; Nemeti and Nemeti
2011: 436; Baestean and Albulescu 2012: 12-18;
Margineanu Carstoiu 2013), Micia- Vetel (Tutila
2009; Nemeti and Nemeti 2011: 436- 437; Tutila
and Barbu 2019: 65-71), Aquae- Cilan, Germis-
ara- Geoagiu (Nemeti and Nemeti 2011: 436-
437), Apulum- Alba Iulia (Nemeti and Nemeti
2011: 437; Izdraila and Florescu 2012; Ota and
Florescu 2016: 205- 234; Matei 2016: 348), Am-
pelum- Zlatna, Alburnus Maior- Rosia Montana

(Nemeti and Nemeti 2011: 437), Potaissa- Turda
(Nemeti and Nemeti 2011: 437; Matei 2016: 348),
Cluj- Napoca (Antal and Pupeza 2012: 92-93), Po-
rolissum- Zaldu (Deac 2018; Deac and Zagreanu
2011: 167), roman fort from Certinae — Romita
(Nemeti and Nemeti 2011: 437; Piso and Deac
2019: 253-256) and Brancovenesti (Protase 2008:
250), roman settlement from Jebucu (Ardevan and
Zagreanu 2012: 73-84), roman villa from Chinte-
ni (Deac and Zagreanu 2011: 165- 167), the the
settlement from Miercurea Sibiului- La Malaies-
ti, Apoldu de Jos, the statio from Miercurea Sib-
iului- Cunta (Urduzia and Pinter 2016: 235- 237)
and others. From this examples we can observe a
similar situation to what is happening also in the
rest of Europe (Jacks 2008; Kinney 2013; Spehar
2019). Included in this list, we consider that Tibis-
cum also deserves its own discussion concerning
the areas with Roman discoveries reused in medi-
eval and modern contexts.

INTRODUCTION

The Roman city Tibiscum, raised to the rank of
municipium by Septimius Severus, is an important
military and especially economic centre, located
on the south- western border of Roman Dacia (Be-
nea 2013: 158), at the crossroad of imperial roads
coming from the southern border of the province,
towards its north. Although the city’s ruins have
attracted the attention of people from the Middle
Ages (Hamat 2017a: 206), the systematic archae-
ologic research has been conducted in the area
only from the second decade of the past century
and until today, is one of the Roman sites with
continuity in terms of research and publication
of the discoveries (Benea and Bona 1994; Ardet
and Ardet 2004; Ardet 2009; Benea 2011; Benea
2018) and in the last years it has benefitted from
research conducted with the help of the newest
methods (P1. 1/2).

The ruins from Tibiscum are truly known
however starting from the Modern Age. Numer-
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ous scholars or travellers through these lands in
between the 16" and 19 century, have noticed in
the courtyards of the inhabitants from Jupa and
Caransebes, but also on the fields located between
the borders of Jupa, Ciuta and laz villages, Roman
remains. The first written information about Tibis-
cum can be found in a manuscript written by loan/
Tanos/ Ioannes Mezertius or Mezerzius, canon at
Alba Iulia and afterwards archdeacon at the Cluj-
Manastur Chapter. His notes, from the beginning
of the 16" century, contain also references to sev-
eral Roman inscriptions discovered at Caranse-
bes, probably originating from Tibiscum (Opris
1994; Benea and Bona 1994: 9; Rusu and Rusu-
Bolindet 2007: 94- 96). The interest for these ru-
ins is also present in the work of Luigi Fernando
Marsigli, an officer in the Austrian army and also
eminent scholar (Morarescu and Codrea 2011:
89). He works for the Habsburg Empire and pub-
lishes a book about Banat at the beggining of the
18" century, in it mentioning for the first time the
location of the ruins of Tibiscum (Marsigli 1726:
67). In the second half of the 19" century, Tibis-
cum is visited by F. Milleker who describes the
Roman habitation from both sides of Timis river
(Milleker 1899: 93-94). Ortvay Tivadar (Marsigli
1726: 67; Milleker 1899: 93-97) also located the
Roman city in the area of the Jupa, laz and Obreja
villages, at the end of the 19th century. The first
field research was conducted by him in 1875, at
the behest of Th. Mommsen (Benea and Bona
1994: 10) and in the context of the creation of a
Banat Historical Society, located at Timisoara.
The systematic research was begun only in the in-
terwar period, when in 1923-1924, the professor
G. G. Mateescu from King Ferdinand University,
Clyj — present-day Babes-Bolyai University — and
the Greek-Catholic bishop 1. Boros from Lugoj
have conducted the first researches, later contin-
ued in between 1964-1976 by M. Moga and D.
Benea in following period (Benea and Bona 1994;
10-11; Ardet and Ardet 2004: 16; Benea 2013:
158; Benea 2018), currently the scientific manag-
er is D. Rancu.

Unfortunately, until 1923-1924 when G.G.
Mateescu conducts the first systematic, important,
research in the Roman site, the ruins underwent
a systematic destruction, a result of search for
valuables or just of the plundering of stone, brick
or architectural elements. Such destructions are
visible for the period of the Middle Ages through
the discoveries of architectural spoils or ancient
objects in medieval contexts, while for the lat-
er period we even have documents detailing the
plundering of the site from Jupa — this action is
favoured by the fact that until the beginning of the
20th century the ruins were still visible above the
ground (Hamat 2017a: 208).

Jupa village and Capra manor

The first area with discoveries plundered from
Tibiscum is the village Jupa, where the archaeo-
logic reservation is located. Jupa is mentioned by
documents from 1440 (Teicu 1998: 341-342) and
the medieval and modern village is located much
further to the west from the contemporary village,
at least until the 18th century, as proven by the
Austrian cadastral maps1. The contemporary vil-
lage is located at a distance of 6 kilometres, in a
straight line, from Caransebes. It is certain that the
ancient ruins were known and exploited during the
Middle Ages, proof of this is given by the habita-
tion traces discovered near the Roman fortification
(Benea, Bona 1994: 68). The reason for this pres-
ence might be the need for building materials, both
for the development of the medieval centre from
Caransebes, starting from the 14th century and es-
pecially during the reign of Louis I and then that
of Sigismund of Luxembourg, when the entire me-
dieval Banat, as part of the Hungarian kingdom,
enjoys an increase in the building projects. This
building effervescence is partially the result of the

1 According with the First Military Survey from 1769-
1772, see Mapire, https://mapire.eu/en/map/firstsur-
vey-banat/?layers=137&bbox=2457422.076554418%2C5
691437.889882898%2C2483200.464343594%
2C5699081.592711415.
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religious policy conducted by the Hungarian roy-
alty and its conflicts with the Ottoman Empire.

The history of the Capra family of nobles is
very important for the study of the antiquities from
Jupa. At the end of the 18th century, they build in
the village that was moved to its present-day lo-
cation, an imposing manor (Balaci Cringus 2013:
368) (Pl. 1I/1,2). The family’s heir, the baron Alex-
andru Capra (1851- 1889) (FD 1889: 5), a person
with a vast culture and a European education, is
the one who discovers and harnesses the potential
of the ruins located next to his manor, housing the
scholars who came to study them and helping the
Hungarian National Museum to acquire objects
from this area (Barbu 2018: 69-71). Many of the
artefacts unearthed by the villagers in search of
treasures were bought by the baron and even today
they are valuable and even singular discoveries in
the archaeologic landscape of this site. A represen-
tative of his period, the baron collects with plea-
sure ancient artefacts, corresponds with the Buda-
pest museum or discusses with the specialists who
came to visit the site. Unfortunately, his life comes
to an abrupt end, dying without direct heirs and his
collection is lost in the tumultuous events at the end
of the 19" century.

Only the family mansion remains from this
fortune, with a fragment of a funerary stela, loot-
ed probably from Tibiscum (Balaci Cringus 2013:
368.) (P1. II/3) and encased on its northern outer
wall. The stela can be included in the category of
architectonic, aniconic funerary stelae, in fact the
only one of all the aniconic stelae of south-west-
ern Dacia. It has a clear, triangle shape fronton,
with acroteria on both sides. The beginning of the
funerary inscription is still visible: D(is) M(ani-
bus). The stela is fashioned from white-yellowish
limestone, other monuments from Tibiscum are
fashioned from this material, especially architec-
tural pieces that probably adorned the different
buildings from the civil settlement or the Roman
fortification (Balaci Cringus 2013: 368). With re-
gards to the Capra manor, we must also mention
the archaeologic tale stating that the basement of

the manor is paved with Roman bricks, among
them one with the stamp of the legion IV Flavia
Felix (Milleker 1899: 93-95; Benea 2018: 137).
Unfortunately, the manor was nationalised after
1949 and is undergoing restauration for several
years, thus archaeologists could not visit it and the
presence of the legion at Tibiscum and the tegu-
la from the manor’s basement bearing its stamp,
cannot be proved beyond the story.

The plundering of Roman monuments con-
tinued in the 19" century, a series of interested
travellers discovering in the houses of the peas-
ants from Jupa Roman monuments and certainly
artefacts for sale. The monuments gain a mythical
aura, even becoming for some peasants, protec-
tors of the houses and the fields or patrons of hu-
man luck and fate and so, they prefer to destroy
them on the spot, rather than sell them or see them
being taken away.

It is in this context that a young priest name lo-
sif Mircea, comes to Jupa at the beginning of the
20th century. He will serve in the village’s church
between 1910-1938 (Hamat 2017a). Due to his
role of parish priest, he listened to the confessions
detailing stories about treasure hunts taking place
in the middle of the ruins near the village, which
he could still see them standing. He realizes the
importance of the area and tries to do everything
possible so that they can be preserved for future
generations and first of all, researched. And be-
cause he is not an archaeologist, decides to do
what he knows best, namely write about them and
help the people in the area know about them and
by using education, to save them from forgetful-
ness and especially from the ignorance that had
as an immediate effect, the treasure hunt. Thus, in
the newspaper Foaia Diecezana published on the
10th of May, 18" of October and 25" of October
1922 an article discussing the ruins from Tibis-
cum was included. The title of the first article Ex-
curzia elevilor Liceului Traian Doda la cetatea
Tibiscum (Mircea 1922a: 4) (The trip undertook
by the students from Traian Doda High School at
Tibiscum fortress), becomes a pretext for a dis-
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course in favour of preserving the Roman ruins,
further strengthened by the second title Crampeie
din zbuciumul trecutului nostru. Cetatea Tibiscum
(Mircea 1922b: 5-7; Hamat 2017a: 208) (Frag-
ments from the struggles of our past. Tibiscum for-
tress). The story starts simply: in hotarul parohiei
mele Jupa, incd se afla o cetate vestitd odinioara,
Tibiscum (Mircea 1922a: 4). (A once famous for-
tress, Tibiscum, still exists on the border of my
parish, Jupa). This parish priest details the destiny
of the fortress, especially of the remains and the
inhabitants of the area, some of them have their
names mentioned — such as Constantin Capra —
many others are anonymous. The name of the
area is also mentioned — at the walls (Mircea
1922b: 6), currently the area is still known as at
the walls, fortress (Benea 2013: 158). The fortress
is believed to have encompassed a large area and
the priest mentions that in the crops of the peo-
ple one can find walls destroyed with dynamite
by the inhabitants, so that they can use the land
as they want (Mircea 1922a: 4). The archaeologic
preserve currently includes a territory of approxi-
mately 17 hectares and is organised starting with
1977 (Benea and Bona 1994: 12), following the
discoveries that were the result of the systematic
research. The reservation is administered by the
County Museum of Ethnography and Border Reg-
iment Caransebes (Muzeul Judetean de Etnografie
si al Regimentului de Granitd Caransebes). The
dangers faced by the ruins from Jupa are men-
tioned in the descriptions contained in the articles,
whether it is the greed of the people, the treach-
ery waters of Timis river, the modernisation of
the area or just the passage of time. Thus, one of
the parishioners told the priest that he used stones
from the fortress, also mentioning an important
detail, namely that the walls he had broken were
painted with a dark blue colour (Mircea 1922a: 4).
It is interesting that given the systematic research
that will later be conducted in the area, there is
no mention in the bibliography about the painted
plaster walls. I. Mircea wonders whether the walls
on the other side of Timig river, at the border of

laz village, are part of the same fortress, belong
to the civil settlement or to a different fortifica-
tion (Mircea 1922b: 7). A century later, due to the
archaeologic research (Pisz, Tomas, and Hegy
2020), we know that the Roman city spanned on
both sides of Timis river and that the walls men-
tioned by the priest most likely belonged to the
civil settlement, researched by D. Benea and more
recently by A. Ardet.

Beside gold, the people plunder the stone from
the walls still visible above the ground at the be-
ginning of the 20th century. Given the ruins from
laz, we note that I. Mircea probably did not know
about Marsigli’s writings, who mentions the exis-
tence of another fortification on the other bank of
Timis river (Marsigli 1726: fig. XXXV), or those
of Ortvay Tivadar, who discusses the Roman ruins
covering both banks of Timis river (Hamat 2017a:
209). The existence of the Roman remains on the
other bank of Timis river was investigated and
published by Ortvay Tivadar in 1873 and 1876
(Ortvay 1873: 103- 104; Ortvay 1876: 32-33).
Just like his predecessors, the priest mentions the
discovery of inscriptions, bricks (with the stamps
MID, MAZY), coins, jewels or funerary lions.
With regards to one funerary lion, the local folk-
lore mentions that it was discovered at the mill,
in fact the area immediate next to the building 1
from Tibiscum — the headless lion. When discuss-
ing the tile stamps mentioned by the priest, it is
noticeable that MID is a usual discovery at Tibis-
cum, being restored as M(aurii) I(uniores) D(aci-
ae) by D. Benea and S. Regep (Benea and Regep
2015: 191), while the second stamp was probably
incorrectly read, it is probably MASY — M(arcus)
SY(rus) (Benea and Regep 2015: 194). The gold
rush affected Jupa and represented one of the rea-
sons for its destruction, just like in any other area
touched upon by history. It is interesting to note
that during the course of time the archaeologic re-
search dug up very few gold objects, among them
two gold rings and a pendant fragment (Hamat
2018a). However, the priest was told several sto-
ries about the gold found here. Thus, one of the
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men working at the Jupa mill, dug after gold and
found a gold coin that the miller sold for a large
sum at Vienna. Another peasant who had found
a gold ring, sold it to baron Capra for 40 florins.
Two individuals found gold also at laz. Also, the
priest could see the palpable evidence of this gold
rush with his own eyes in the village, where an
unnamed woman wore a necklace fashioned from
gold coins found in the fortress. The fortress how-
ever, fiercely guards the vast majority of riches,
only the dancing flames of gold can be seen here
at night. This information is part of the traditional
curse attached to any place touched upon by histo-
ry, repository of valuable artefacts but also of past
suffering, the words about the end of the place
are proof of this. This, he says, must have been
caused by fire, because those who dug at the for-
tress discovered charcoal and human and horse
bones mixed together (Hamat 2017a: 210-211).

Modernity is the last factor to play a part in
destroying the ruins, being mentioned the fact that
during the construction of the railroad that cur-
rently connects the city of Timisoara to the capital,
passing in the immediate vicinity of Jupa village,
walls were discovered, walls that had to be de-
stroyed in order for the work to be completed. The
location of the Roman fortification is about 600
meters away from the railroad but until now there
are no certain mentions about Roman discoveries
being made in the area of the CFR depot, besides
those recorded by I. Mircea. Thus, modernisation
took its toll on Tibiscum, many of the remains be-
coming lost forever (Hamat 2017a: 211).

Medieval church from Carbunari- Tiganesti

It is also in this area, from the administrative
territory of Jupa village and near the Roman for-
tification, that the church located at Carbunari-
Tiganesti was researched at the beginning of the
1990s. It was identified as the church of the me-
dieval village Racovita, mentioned in the docu-
ments at the half of the 15th century and which

no longer exists now (Teicu 2007: 150-151; Teicu
1998: 364). A necropolis was identified around the
church. The monument and the cemetery were dat-
ed with the help of coin, in the first half of the 14th
century (Teicu 2007: 151) — thus we know that the
village existed for certain at least 100 years.

The medieval church overlaps a Roman build-
ing whose functionality is unknown, located in the
proximity of Tibiscum, on the side of the imperial
road Dierna — Tibiscum and it is here that Roman
materials were discovered, including a coin from
Gordian III (Ardet 1996: 415-422). Although the
author mentions that the Roman building was re-
used in the construction of the medieval on (Ar-
det 1996: 416), we consider there is not enough
evidence to support this and we are faced rather
with just a reuse of the respective area. Therefore,
we are not dealing with an intentional reuse of the
ruins from ancient Tibiscum.

Medieval church from Caviran- Ct.
Daicoviciu

The medieval town named Caran is locat-
ed 16 km north of Caransebes and 12 km from
Tibiscum, on the southern bank of the river Timis
and on the main road from Severin fortress to
Timigoara, in the area of modern Cavaran village
(today named Ct. Daicoviciu). The inhabitants of
this small town (called by the documents cives
et hospites de Karan) built a church in Cetate/
Saliste point, sometime in the late fourteenth or
early fifteenth century, which was excavated by
I. Miloia in 1930s (Pl. V/1). The nave, in the
form of an elongated hall, had a bell tower in the
western part of the space. On the exterior, the
church has pairs of support elements arranged on
the west side of the nave and at the altar (Teicu
2007: 111-112). When building the monument,
the medieval craftsmen used Roman bricks (Pl.
V/2), tiles, stone blocks, fragments of mosaic and
marble monuments. They use the roman spolia for
building the elevation of the church, to pave the
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interior, and also in the manufacture of medieval
mortar (Daicoviciu and Miloia 1930: 15; Miloia
1930: 47-48; Miloia 1931: 36-37). Therefore, we
are dealing with an intentional reuse of the ruins
from ancient Tibiscum.

The modern town of Caransebes and the
church of the Franciscan monastery

Caransebes is the most important area where
the ancient spoils were used. The city is locat-
ed at the confluence of Timis and Sebes rivers,
in the southeast of the Roman Tibiscum, being
mentioned in documents since 1290 (Teicu 1998:
309), under the name Sebes and in 1325 as a roy-
al fortress (Teicu 2009: 108-109). In fact, Jupa is
currently just one of its neighbourhoods.

On the current territory of the city were also dis-
covered the ruins of a villa rustica in Mahala point
and those of a temple in Campul Iui Corneanu point
(Petrovszky 1975: 367; Petrovszky and Petrovsz-
ky 1977). Besides these ruins, various inscriptions
were, in the second half of the nineteenth century,
embedded in several houses in Caransebes (Ortvay
1873: 103- 104). The plundering of the Roman ru-
ins by the inhabitants of the medieval fortress of
Caransebes (Bona 1993: 70) and later on, those of
the modern city, was probably something usual and
not a singular event, which span in time from medi-
eval to modern times, and included from bricks and
monuments up to small objects, such as is the case
of the artefacts discovered in one the city’s necrop-
olis, to be discussed below.

Based on the information we have at our dis-
posal so far, we can date the massive plundering
from the beginning of the Angevine dynasty and
intensifies during the reign of Sigismund of Lux-
embourg. This period marks an important step
in the urbanisation of the medieval centre from
Caransebes. Therefore, between the middle of
the 14th century and the 15" century, the medi-
eval fortress underwent a series of changes, one
of the most important being the relocation of the

small local nobility, which will move to the newly
created city to live following the western model,
including the use of ancient gems and cameos. In
general, as it is shown by the medieval sources
but also by the more recent testimonies, as well as
the local archaeological research, the Roman city
and fortification were systematically plundered of
everything that could be capitalized, and the fact
that the ruins remained visible above the ground
until the beginning of the last century turned them
into a sure target for all those interested (Hamat
2017: 429-430).

The most important point, so far, on the map
of the Roman spoils, is the church of the Francis-
can monastery from Caransebes (PI. 111/3), where
many reused Roman elements were discovered
(Hamat 2016) (PL. IV). But, let us not forget, that
the case of the medieval church is not a singular
one, the whole town benefits during the Middle
Ages from the construction materials originating
from the ruins. Thus, the locals knew that at the
edge of the settlement, there was marble, which
they systematically robbed to build what was nec-
essary (Mircea 1922b: 7) and it was used either as
construction material for houses or it was burned
in order to make lime, a practice that spread from
the Middle Ages onwards and is known to have
been done in several well-known archaeologic dig
sites such as Apulum or Ulpia Traiana.

The ruins of the Franciscan monastery in Ca-
ransebes were discovered in 1988, during the
demolition works of the buildings located in the
centre of the city, to make way for blocks of flats.
The importance of this location is proven by the
Medieval documents, which mention several
Franciscan headquarters in the Banat area (Sev-
erin, Orsova, Caransebes, Chery, Cuiesti- Bocsa,
Armenis, Haram and Cuvin), half of which were
created with the support of King Louis I (Teicu
2007: 1), due to his confessional policies, which
include also the Caransebes monument (Teicu
2007: 59). With the Ottoman expansion taking
place in the Balkans, it seems that these headquar-
ters suffered, together with the whole Banat area,
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great destructions at the beginning of the 15th
century, following the raids. Thus, the Franciscans
demand support from Pope Eugene IV in Decem-
ber 1437 in order to rebuild the churches that were
affected. It is now that the third group is created,
comprised of laymen that follow the order’s spir-
itual precepts and life style; this group included,
besides the king and queen of Hungary, the nobles
from Caransebes lacob of Macicas and his wife,
Ioan of Matnic and his wife as well as Mihai of
Matnic (Teicu 2007: 18). This aspect is extremely
important because it is testimony for the existence
of a local catholic nobility, included in the third
group and whose probable resting place might be
in one of the crypts from the Caransebes church
(Teicu 2007: 59), adorned with Roman gems.

The Franciscan monastery is currently located
in the area delimited to the N-NE by the M. Halici
street, to the E by Ardealului street, to the V by S.
Herce street and to the S by the Revolution Square,
in the centre of the city and 6 kilometres away from
Tibiscum. A church with the crypts located inside
was discovered in this area, as well as the necropolis
around it, alongside the remains of a perimeter wall
(Bona 1993: PI. 2-3.). When discussing the dating,
we have to say that the 13" century was proposed
for the first phase of the church (Bona 1993: 68),
however, other researchers put forward as certain
a later date, based on documents?. The church has
a single nave, its walls are supported by buttresses
and the entrance is located on the western side. It
houses 11 crypts beneath the floors, alongside other
funerals separated in the first third of the church,
near the entrance. The authors of the discovery
state that the monastery ceases its existence at the
half of the 16™ century (Teicu 2007: 59). It is prob-
able that the total destruction happened only after
the Austrian rule was imposed, when the whole
area was rebuilt after the Ottoman- Habsburg wars
from the 16®- 18" centuries.

When the church and its crypts were built in
Caransebes, among other funerary objects, four

2 The Franciscan monastery is mentioned in documents
from the 14th until 15th centuries, see Teicu 2007, 58.

intaglios (Pl. VII/ 2, 3, 4, 5), between them three
gems and a cameo, were discovered alongside
bricks and chiselled stones, as well as fragments
from monuments from Tibiscum. Two of the
gems were republished 10 years later by C. Timoc
(Timoc 1998: 115-116), again in 2004 three of
them were published by M. Vasile and in 2009
all four were discussed by D. Teicu (Vasile 2004:
2-3; Teicu 2009a: 253). Unfortunately, M. Vasile
considers the rings to be Roman. The four gems
however are mounted in medieval rings and thus
we are clearly dealing with an example of how
the inhabitants of Caransebes reused jewels in the
15%-16% centuries.

Different Roman materials (marble pieces,
construction elements, fragments from funerary
and honorific monuments, bricks, tiles and others)
(Bona 1993: 68- 70) were preserved in the ruins of
the church. They were most probably plundered
from Tibiscum?®. Thus, both the foundation and
the elevation of the walls contain chiselled stones
probably initially in the walls of the Tibiscum Ro-
man fort, as well as bricks used in building the
buttresses (Bona 1993: 69). The most important
discoveries however are the fragments of Roman
monuments discovered encased in the walls of the
church (Bona 1993: 69), in the buttresses, around
the altar and in the stairs. The most interesting are
half a Roman gable depicting Hercules catching
the erymanthian wild boar (P1. 111/2) as well as a
fragment from a funerary stela. The gable might
originate from a temple or a sacellum, as yet un-
discovered in the field. The funerary monument
fragment comes from a large stela, fashioned from
marble, very damaged (Cringus 2001: 91-92).
Besides them, it is worth mentioning the marble
fragments discovered in the altar; they come from
an honorary inscription, the dedicant being an au-
gustalis from the Colonia Ulpia Traiana Sarmize-
getusa, the artefact is dated in the 2nd century
(Bona 1993; 70).

3 All kind of materials and also objects obtain by despo-
liation are commonly named by the specialists spolia, see
Kinney 2006, 234.
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The crypt number 6 housed 11 graves contain-
ing 13 deceased (Bona 1993: 75-78) and includes
in its building materials, roman bricks alongside
hypocaust tiles (Bona 1993: 66). When it was
discovered, M6 was considered to be a woman’s
grave. The deceased has her hands on her chest
and on her left finger a ring with a sardonyx cam-
eo engraved with the image of a child’s head (Ha-
mat 2017: 421). The piece is the only inventory
object mentioned by the researchers who note that
it is an ancient cameo (Bona 1993: 76), which can
be dated based on the analogies from the 2nd cen-
tury AD. (Hamat 2016: 71).

Crypt 4 housed 6 graves containing 10 skulls,
dated based on the inventory in the 14"-16™ centu-
ries (Bona 1993: 72-73). M3 contained a complete
skeleton, positioned on its back, with the hands on
its chest. The inventory consisted of a gold ring
with an ancient gem with the image of a satyr en-
graved on it (Bona 1993: 72; Hamat 2017: 421).

Crypt 5 housed 8 graves containing 12 skulls,
being dated in the 14™-15" centuries (Bona 1993:
73-75). It was paved with 80 Roman brick frag-
ments, some of them bearing stamps (MID,
MASY, ARF and CIV) (Bona 1993: 69), stamps
also encountered at Tibiscum (Benea and Regep
2015). Two of the roman gems were discovered in
this crypt. M5 contained a completely preserved
skeleton, positioned on its back, with the hands
resting on the chest and on her left ring finger was
a ring with an ancient carnelian gem engraved
with Apollo’s image (Hamat 2017: 421). M7 con-
tains the skeleton of a man, very well preserved,
positioned on his back with the hands resting on
his chest; he has in the area of this torso a ring,
probably fallen off his hand, a ring with a carne-
lian gem engraved with the face of a man. The
funerary inventory contained besides the ring a
silver coin from Sigismund de Luxembourg and
two iron horseshoes from the heels of the boots.

One of the important areas containing discov-
eries is also represented by the medieval fortress
of Caransebes. The fortress is currently located on
one of the hills, somehow flanked by the streets

Gradinilor, Potocului, Decebal and Muntele Mic,
being almost entirely destroyed by the contem-
porary destructions. Fragments from a funerary
stela were discovered in 1872 in the fortress’s
perimeter, on Potoc street. Such a discovery was
witnessed by K. Torma in 1880 in the walls of
the house number 410, situated very near of the
Franciscan church. It seems that the owners of
the house 410 had encased four inscriptions in the
walls and has sent several Roman monuments to
the Austrian general Stanojlovic — other inhabi-
tants from the city proceeded in the same manner.
There is a strong possibility that the owner of the
modern house 410, found the Roman monuments
on his property, which was located on the ruins
of the Franciscan monastery and did not rob them
directly from Tibiscum, at least not all of them.
In this case we would be dealing with a modern
reuse of the medieval spolia.

Stones with roman inscriptions might be en-
cased in the wall of the Roman-Catholic church,
build in the 19th century on the site of an older
church in the centre of the present-day city and
near the Franciscan monastery. Unfortunately,
they are lost today and the transcript of their in-
scription as made by K. Torma is also lost. Anoth-
er epigraph, a votive text dedicated to Apollo and
Diana, was encased in the walls of house 9, on
Retezat street. The tiles with the stamp of the XIII
Gemina legion was discovered when the ground
was dug up for the foundation of a house, on Epis-
copiei street, in the centre of Caransebes, also at
the end of the 19" century (IDR I1I/1: 142-144).

Medieval church from Obreja

Another Roman plunder was located nearby
Obreja, approximately 6 kilometres from Tibis-
cum. The late archaeologist D. Teicu researched a
church located in the area known as Sat Batrdn, on
the border of the current village. The edifice was
dated at the beginning of the 15" century. Around
the church is a necropolis with burials dated in

187



Archaeology and Science 16 (2020)

Hamat - The Exploitation And Reuse Of The Roman...(179-203)

two distinct periods and with a modest funerary
inventory (Teicu 2009: 109; Hamat 2018: 27). A
Roman jasper gem was discovered here, bearing
the image of Minerva Nikephoros (Hamat 2016:
422; Hamat 2017: 423; Hamat 2018: 27) (PL
VII/1). Unfortunately, the exact place of discov-
ery of the gem is not known, the inventory register
of the Museum of the Highland Banat from Resita
mentions only the fact that it was discovered in-
side the church (Hamat 2016: 422). In this case, as
in the case from Carbunari-Tiganesti, we cannot
say exactly if the gem is reused, in the absence of
the exact context of the discovery.

The medieval keep from Turnu Ruieni.

One of the most beautiful medieval monu-
ments from the area, the keep from Turnu Ruieni
(P1. VI), is located in the immediate vicinity, 10
kilometres away from Caransebes, on the road to-
wards Muntele Mic. The keep is positioned on the
Starminita hill, the ruins being almost 10 metres
in height. Blocks of marble probably coming from
a Roman monument were encased during the
construction of the walls (IDR III/1: 141; Miloia
1930: 47; Sacara 1975: 306-307; Sacara 2002:
190), also Roman tegular materials was used for
straightening the walls. The keep is mentioned in
the documents from the middle of the 15th cen-
tury as belonging to the Romanian noble family
from Matnic. But the historians agree that it must
have been the result of the Angevin policy and ini-
tially a royal possession (Teicu 2009: 50-51).

An inscription was still visible on one of the
blocks in the 19" century, now the inscription
cannot be observed anymore. The inscription was
discussed by those who still saw it at the end of
the 19 century and the beginning of the next one.
The text, with only several letters still visible ...
OVI... were noted down and it is because of this
that the tower was named Ovid’s Tower, being
connected with the name of the famous poet who
died at Tomis and who is placed in the area by the

local legend. We consider that this Roman inscrip-
tion also originates from Tibiscum, based on the
proximity of the discovery to the Roman centre
(IDR III/1: 141).

CONCLUSION

To conclude, the territory of ancient Tibiscum
and the Roman ruins are known and exploited
during the Medieval Age, with evidence of their
reuse at Caransebes, Ct. Daicoviciu, Turnu Ruieni
and possibly to Obreja and Carbunari- Tiganesti,
for the period of the 14%-15" centuries. The first
evidence for the reuse of roman spolia dates back
to the 10th-12th centuries and comes from the
archaeologic research of the habitation layers
from Tibiscum (Benea and Bona 1994: 68). Let
us not forget that at least in between the 7h-111
centuries, Tibiscum is once again an important
settlement, being mentioned in 1018 among the
dioceses subordinated to the Ohrida archdiocese
with the name Divisiskos- Dibisskos (Benea and
Bona 1994: 123).

It is more that certain however, that the ex-
ploitation of the ruins begins with the birth of
medieval Sebes, present- day Caransebes and also
for the building purpose in Caran- modern Ct. Da-
icoviciu. The medieval town Caran and also Sebes
fortress developed at the expense of the territory
occupied by the ancient settlement. This is due to
the shift in the travel on the ancient road in this
area, because of the exclusion of the section in be-
tween Tibiscum — Obreja. After Obreja, the road
is still widely used until today, as proven by the
repairs and the reuse of the Roman bridge from
Pons Augusti — located north of Caransebes, in the
Marga- Voislova area, in 15" century (Rusu 1996:
249-252). The modification of the road, through
the exclusion of this section, is possibly a con-
sequence of the destruction of the Roman bridge
from Tibiscum by Timis river. The pillars of the
Roman bridge survived at least until the 19" cen-
tury, their ruins were still visible on the terrain,
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now they are destroyed and their location lost. It
is certain that in the 14th century the bridge was
no longer usable, otherwise it would have been
mentioned in the documents, as is the case with
the bridge from Pons Augusti. The reuse of the
Roman roads and even roman bridges in the Mid-
dle Age is also documented in other parts of for-
mer Dacia - medieval Transylvania (Toda 2008:
225-241; Cocis, Chiorean and Ciobanu 2018;
Chiorean, Cocis and Bere 2019).

It is also important to mention that currently
on the territory of Caransebes there are traces of
ancient habitation, in the points Mahala, Orthodox
Episcopate-centre and Campul lui Corneanu. The
area near the medieval fortress, where the ancient
settlement is located, is mentioned in 1440 under
the name of Tyvisk, in 1447 as Tyws and in 1470
as Tews (Benea and Bona 1994: 123), proof that
supports our idea that the ancient settlement was
still known and used as a quarry in that period. The
fact that the area of the Roman fort and city was
no longer inhabited but the ruins were still visible,
favoured their being plundered and the reuse of the
materials for the construction of the fortress or of
medieval churches from the close vicinity, as a di-
rect consequence of the Angevin policy conducted
in the area, to strengthen the habitation nuclei ex-
isting at the beginning of the 14™ century, then to
build new Catholic churches aimed at spreading
the Catholic faith in the area and last but not least
by extending the cities as a base for the noble elites
due to the prosperity of the Hungarian Kingdom at
the end of the 14th century and for repairing the
cities when faced with the Ottoman peril at the be-
ginning of the 15" century.

Along with the development of the city, the
importance moved from the noble courts to the
house located in the city and the noble families
from the area bought estates in Caransebes. Their
members lived mostly here and they were buried
in the Catholic churches from the city, such as the
church of the Franciscan monastery. Tibiscum of-
fered for this category of population other types
of plunder, such as jewels. Only the ancient gems

and cameos, mounted in medieval jewellery, have
reached us. The gold rush, sometimes led even
by the ruling class, is mentioned in the medie-
val legislation (ACRT: 54, 1) or even the modern
one — in 1839 (Stoica 1998: 8). The legislation
punishes treasure hunting, which is why the met-
al jewels discovered in the ruins were probably
melted down in order to prevent authorities from
taking action and that is why today we only find
reused ancient gems and cameos. The reuse of
ancient gems and cameos is well documented in
Banat and at the court of the Hymfi family from
Remetea - near ancient Berzovis?, where a noble
lady, Iuliana widow of Nicolae Himfy, while at
Gyor in the early 15th century, seals personal let-
ters with an ancient gem (Magina 2017: 355). We
also mention the similar case of the gems reused
in medieval Hungary (Gesztely and Racz 2006;
Gesztelyi 2011) including Transylvania, in medi-
eval Serbia (Biki¢ 2016), France (Simonet 2019),
Germany (Kinney 2011), Italy’, England (Henig
2008: Zwierlein- Diehl 2014: 88), modern Croatia
(Kai¢ 2015) but also in the rest of today’s Roma-
nia, in the area of Targu Jiu, Romula or Craiova
(Marinoiu and Hamat 2020; Hamat 2017, 430),
from the Middle Ages until the modern era. A
famous example is the necklace of Maria Sever-
eanu®, made in 1922 from gold and 44 gems and
cameos, most of them antique.

Like in the rest of the Central Europe, also
in Romania, finding of reused Roman gems is
most often linked to the proximity of a Roman
site (Gesztelyi 2011: 259; Simonet 2019: 361).
For medieval people, gemmed seals were advan-

4 The seal in question will be the subject of another study.

5 One of the most famous portrets from the Middle Age is
the one of beautiful Simonetta Vespuci, painted by Sandro
Boticelli in early- mid 1480, curently found in the collec-
tion of Stddel Museum - Frankfurt am Main — Germany;
Simonetta was painted with a necklace which contains
a large antique cameo engraved with the image of both
Apollo and Marsyas, see Stidel Museum - Frankfurt am
Main — Germany, https://sammlung.staedelmuseum.de/en/
work/idealised-portrait-of-a-lady; For this topic see also
Tassinari 2019, 43-47.

6 Muzeul Bucurestiului, http://muzeulbucurestiului.ro/
colectia-aur-si-metale-pretioase/
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tageous in many different ways, from magical,
medical, artistic, social, even religious and diplo-
matic point of view (Simonet 2019: 362; Zwier-
lein- Diehl 2014), up to the fact that they were
much easy to procure. The importance of reused
gems for medieval people come also from the sit-
uation that these kind of jewelry are part of the
economy of prestige goods, which is generally
the same from one culture to another. As wealth,
they facilitate the distribution and transmission of
power and as representations of wealth they main-
tain or assert power through displaying (Kinney
2011: 105; Sena Chiesa 2011: 229), hence the
appearance of the great noble houses collections.
Unlike the rest of the Europe, we know that on the
territory of Banat region the Roman gems were
reused starting with XIV century, for the earlier
periods we do not have confirmed information.

In the modern period, with the movement of
Jupa village closer to the ruins where its actual-
ly located today and being inherited by the Capra
family, Tibiscum suffers new destructions, much
more important. The monuments from the area
being reused in building the manor of the Capra
family from Jupa, the Roman-Catholic church
from Caransebes or the houses of private persons
from the city or even being shipped to Budapest or
Vienna. Unfortunately, the vast majority of such
reused monuments were completely lost when the
buildings were demolished or are hidden under
layers of daub, their memory remains only in the
writing from the end of the 19th century.

This is also the period when the ruins located
in the area, interest the authorities and especially
the researchers that now start the first mappings
and field research. Some of the important pieces
are now discovered at Tibiscum. Among them we
have military diplomas attesting to the presence
of the Roman army, epigraphs with the names of
civilians, jewellery and other evidence of habita-
tion during the Roman- era. The fact that the Ro-
manian administration took over Banat at the end
of World War I, initially intensified the destruction
up to an unprecedented level, the people nearby

using the stone and bricks for constructions. But,
it also meant acknowledging the importance of
the ruins for the local and national history. The
first attempts at salvaging the ruins are led by the
inhabitants of the area, the priests losif Mircea
from Jupa or loan Boros from Lugoj, the archae-
ologist Constantin Daicoviciu — from Cavaran, I.
Miloia from Timisoara and others. The first sys-
tematic research is conducted between 1920-1924
and the archaeologic reservation is created after
World War II, the Roman fortification and part of
the settlement being now protected.

Today the inhabitants and the local authorities
protect the ruins but the danger represented by the
treasure hunters has not disappeared, especially
with regards to the areas located outside the ar-
chaeological reservation. As envisioned by those
from the beginning of the 20th century, Tibiscum
has developed into a real focus for research and
erudition that has long extended outside Roma-
nia’s borders.
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REZIME
EKSPLOATACIJA I PONOVNO
KORISCENJE RIMSKIH
RUSEVINA IZ TIBISKUMA,
OD SREDNJEG VEKA DO
SAVREMENOG DOBA

KLJUCNE RECI: DACIA, TIBISCUM, RIMSKE
SPOLIJE, SREDNJI VEK, SAVREMENO DOBA,
SPOMENICI, NAKIT.

Vazno pitanje koje smo pokusali da pokrene-
mo u ovom radu jeste ponovno koriséenje spome-
nika, gradevinskog materijala i drugih objekata iz
rimskog perioda pronadenih u Tibiskumu, pocev
od perioda srednjeg veka pa do savremenog doba.
Mesta gde su takvi nalazi otkriveni nalaze se
blizu ovog rimskog lokaliteta, u Zupi, Kavaranu
— Konstantin Daikoviciju, KaransebeSu, Turnu
Rujeniju, a moguce i u Karbunariju — Ciganestiju
1 Obrezi. Uopsteno gledano, materijali koji su se
ponovo upotrebljavali obuhvataju gradevinski
materijal, kamen, ciglu, a posebno fragmentovane
ili cele spomenike; mali, dragoceni predmeti
kao Sto su anticke geme takode su bivali
ponovo upotrebljeni, tako S$to su postavljani na
srednjovekovno prstenje. Velika veéina ovakvih
spolija bila je ponovo upotrebljena za gradnju ili
obnavljanje srednjovekovnih crkvi, glavne kule
u Turnu Rujeniju ili srednjovekovne tvrdave u
Karansebesu. Pljackanje Tibiskuma je pocelo,
zasigurno, od XIV veka i1 nastavilo se tokom
sledeceg, sude¢i po politici madarske kraljevske
porodice da se grade nova mesta za bogosluzenje i
popravljaju kraljevske tvrdave zbog opasnosti od
turskog prodora.

U savremeno doba, rimski spomenici su
koris¢eni za ulepSavanje kuéa stanovnika
Karasebesa ili imanja koje je pripadalo plemickoj
porodici Kapra, u Zupi. Buduéi da se danas,
srecom, nalazi u arheoloskom rezervatu u Zupi,
Tibiscum je vrlo pazljivo iskopan i istrazen. Ipak,
mnogi predmeti koji su bili iskopani u Tibiskumu
u periodu pre nego Sto je oformljen rezervat

ostaju izgubljeni, dok mnogi od spomenika koji
su bili pokradeni iz ovog vaznog rimskog grada
i ugradeni u zidove modernih zgrada danas viSe
ne postoje.
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THE REUSE OF THE ROMAN RUINS FROM TIBISCUM
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1/1 Map with the reuse of roman ruins from Tibiscum in Medieval and Modern ages.
1/2 Roman ruins from Tibiscum, after Pisz et al 2020, fig. 12.
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II/1 Capra manor today, after https://adevarul.ro/locale/resita/foto-video-conacele-boieresti-caras-severin-glorie-ruina-
1_51776e1b053¢c7dd83f3ee330/index.html.
I1/2 Capra Manor at the begining of the XXth century,
after https://adevarul.ro/locale/resita/conacul-capra-vremurile-glorie-7 517a105a053¢7dd83f4a33ec/index.html.
11/ 3 Capra Manor, roman stela reused, after Balaci- Crangus 2013, fig.1.
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III/1 Medieval church of the Franciscan monastery from Caransebes, after Bona 1993, pl.3.
11I/2 Roman monument discovered in the medieval church of Franciscan monastery from Caransebes, personal photo.
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IV/1 Roman tegular materials discovered in the medieval church of Franciscan monastery from Caransebes,
after Bona 1993, pl. 5.
IV/2 Roman monuments discovered in the medieval church of Franciscan monastery from Caransebes,
after Bona 1993, pl. 6.
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V/1 Medieval church from Caviaran/ Ct. Daicoviciu, after Miloia 1930, 32.
V/2 Roman tegular materials discovered at the medieval church from Cavaran/ Ct. Daicoviciu, after Miloia 1930, 37.
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VI/1 The keep from Turnu Ruieni with a detail of roman spolia, personal photo.
V172 The keep from Turnu Ruieni, after Teicu 2009, pl.16.
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VII/1 Roman gem discovered at the medieval church from Obreja, personal photo.
VII/2, 3, 4, 5 Roman gems and cameos discovered at the medieval church from Caransebes, personal photo.
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